

1. TITLE OF RULE FILING:

**Rule 3.400 Disconnection of Cable Television Service
and Non-Residential Electric, Gas, and Water Service**

2. ADOPTING AGENCY:

Vermont Public Utility Commission

3. PRIMARY CONTACT PERSON:

(A PERSON WHO IS ABLE TO ANSWER QUESTIONS ABOUT THE CONTENT OF THE RULE).

Name: Daniel C. Burke, Esq.

Agency: Vermont Public Utility Commission

Mailing Address: 112 State Street, 4th Floor, Montpelier,
VT 05602

Telephone: 802-828-1173 Fax: 802-828-3352

E-Mail: dan.burke@vermont.gov

Web URL *(WHERE THE RULE WILL BE POSTED)*:

<https://epuc.vermont.gov/?q=node/64/127248>

4. SECONDARY CONTACT PERSON:

(A SPECIFIC PERSON FROM WHOM COPIES OF FILINGS MAY BE REQUESTED OR WHO MAY ANSWER QUESTIONS ABOUT FORMS SUBMITTED FOR FILING IF DIFFERENT FROM THE PRIMARY CONTACT PERSON).

Name: Ann Bishop

Agency: Vermont Public Utility Commission

Mailing Address: 112 State Street, 4th Floor, Montpelier,
VT 05602

Telephone: 802-828-2358 Fax: 802-828-3352

E-Mail: ann.bishop@vermont.gov

5. RECORDS EXEMPTION INCLUDED WITHIN RULE:

(DOES THE RULE CONTAIN ANY PROVISION DESIGNATING INFORMATION AS CONFIDENTIAL; LIMITING ITS PUBLIC RELEASE; OR OTHERWISE, EXEMPTING IT FROM INSPECTION AND COPYING?) No

IF YES, CITE THE STATUTORY AUTHORITY FOR THE EXEMPTION:

PLEASE SUMMARIZE THE REASON FOR THE EXEMPTION:

6. LEGAL AUTHORITY / ENABLING LEGISLATION:

(THE SPECIFIC STATUTORY OR LEGAL CITATION FROM SESSION LAW INDICATING WHO THE ADOPTING ENTITY IS AND THUS WHO THE SIGNATORY SHOULD BE. THIS SHOULD BE A SPECIFIC CITATION NOT A CHAPTER CITATION).

Public Act No. 47, § 25a (2023 Vt., Bien. Sess.).

7. EXPLANATION OF HOW THE RULE IS WITHIN THE AUTHORITY OF THE AGENCY:

Act 47, Section 25a requires that the Public Utility Commission "revise its rules concerning utility service disconnection to: (1) require that a utility provide notice to the property owner of residential or nonresidential rental property if utility service to the property has been disconnected, even if the tenant is the ratepayer; and (2) allow a utility to disconnect utility service remotely." The proposed rule amends the Public Utility's Commission existing rule on utility disconnections to incorporate these requirements.

Title 30, Section 209 of the Vermont Statutes Annotated tasks the Commission with adopting rules that "regulate or prescribe the grounds upon which the [utility] companies may disconnect or refuse to reconnect service to customers" and "regulate and prescribe reasonable procedures used by [utility] companies in disconnecting or reconnecting services and billing customers in regard thereto." The proposed amendments govern the procedural requirements for utility disconnections.

8. CONCISE SUMMARY (150 WORDS OR LESS):

The proposed amendments bring the Public Utility Commission's disconnection rules into alignment with Act 47 to allow for remote disconnections and require utilities to contact owners of rental properties when conducting a disconnection. The rule amendments also modernize the disconnection notification process by allowing utilities to contact affected customers with SMS text messages and emails instead of only telephone calls.

9. EXPLANATION OF WHY THE RULE IS NECESSARY:

The rule complies with a legislative mandate and is designed to reduce the cost of utility disconnections, promote the safety of utility employees that conduct disconnections, and protect property.

10. EXPLANATION OF HOW THE RULE IS NOT ARBITRARY AS DEFINED IN 3 V.S.A. § 801(b)(13)(A):

The proposed rule amendments are intended to implement Act 47's legislative mandate. The proposed amendments were developed after soliciting feedback and conducting

a public workshop with interested parties, including the Vermont Department of Public Service and affected utilities.

**11. LIST OF PEOPLE, ENTERPRISES AND GOVERNMENT ENTITIES
AFFECTED BY THIS RULE:**

Gas, electric, water, and basic telephone utility companies; Vermont customers of those utilities; the Vermont Department of Public Service; the Vermont Housing Authority; Vermont low-income aid organizations such as Vermont Legal Aid and Vermont Community Action Agencies.

12. BRIEF SUMMARY OF ECONOMIC IMPACT (150 WORDS OR LESS):

The proposed rule will have minimal economic impact, but it is expected to produce cost savings for affected utilities by eliminating the need for utility employees to physically travel to service locations to complete utility disconnections for delinquent payment. It will also reduce costs for utility customers by prohibiting utilities from charging fees for remote disconnections.

13. A HEARING WILL BE SCHEDULED.

IF A HEARING WILL NOT BE SCHEDULED, PLEASE EXPLAIN WHY.

14. HEARING INFORMATION

(THE FIRST HEARING SHALL BE NO SOONER THAN 30 DAYS FOLLOWING THE POSTING OF NOTICES ONLINE).

IF THIS FORM IS INSUFFICIENT TO LIST THE INFORMATION FOR EACH HEARING, PLEASE ATTACH A SEPARATE SHEET TO COMPLETE THE HEARING INFORMATION NEEDED FOR THE NOTICE OF RULEMAKING.

Date:

Time: AM

Street Address:

Zip Code:

URL for Virtual:

Date:

Time: AM

Street Address:

Zip Code:

URL for Virtual:

Date:

Time: AM

Street Address:

Zip Code:

URL for Virtual:

Date:

Time: AM

Street Address:

Zip Code:

URL for Virtual:

15. DEADLINE FOR COMMENT (NO EARLIER THAN 7 DAYS FOLLOWING LAST HEARING):

16. KEYWORDS (PLEASE PROVIDE AT LEAST 3 KEYWORDS OR PHRASES TO AID IN THE SEARCHABILITY OF THE RULE NOTICE ONLINE).

Public Utility Commission

Rules

Disconnection

Consumer Protection

Arrearage

Landlord notification of utility disconnection

Final Proposed Filing - Coversheet

Instructions:

In accordance with Title 3 Chapter 25 of the Vermont Statutes Annotated and the “Rule on Rulemaking” adopted by the Office of the Secretary of State, this filing will be considered complete upon filing and acceptance of these forms with the Office of the Secretary of State, and the Legislative Committee on Administrative Rules.

All forms shall be submitted at the Office of the Secretary of State, no later than 3:30 pm on the last scheduled day of the work week.

The data provided in text areas of these forms will be used to generate a notice of rulemaking in the portal of “Proposed Rule Postings” online, and the newspapers of record if the rule is marked for publication. Publication of notices will be charged back to the promulgating agency.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 32 33 34 35 36 37 38 39 40 41 42 43 44 45 46 47 48 49 50 51 52 53 54 55 56 57 58 59 60 61 62 63 64 65 66 67 68 69 70 71 72 73 74 75 76 77 78 79 80 81 82 83 84 85 86 87 88 89 90 91 92 93 94 95 96 97 98 99 100 101 102 103 104 105 106 107 108 109 110 111 112 113 114 115 116 117 118 119 120 121 122 123 124 125 126 127 128 129 130 131 132 133 134 135 136 137 138 139 140 141 142 143 144 145 146 147 148 149 150 151 152 153 154 155 156 157 158 159 160 161 162 163 164 165 166 167 168 169 170 171 172 173 174 175 176 177 178 179 180 181 182 183 184 185 186 187 188 189 190 191 192 193 194 195 196 197 198 199 200 201 202 203 204 205 206 207 208 209 210 211 212 213 214 215 216 217 218 219 220 221 222 223 224 225 226 227 228 229 230 231 232 233 234 235 236 237 238 239 240 241 242 243 244 245 246 247 248 249 250 251 252 253 254 255 256 257 258 259 260 261 262 263 264 265 266 267 268 269 270 271 272 273 274 275 276 277 278 279 280 281 282 283 284 285 286 287 288 289 290 291 292 293 294 295 296 297 298 299 300 301 302 303 304 305 306 307 308 309 310 311 312 313 314 315 316 317 318 319 320 321 322 323 324 325 326 327 328 329 330 331 332 333 334 335 336 337 338 339 340 341 342 343 344 345 346 347 348 349 350 351 352 353 354 355 356 357 358 359 360 361 362 363 364 365 366 367 368 369 370 371 372 373 374 375 376 377 378 379 380 381 382 383 384 385 386 387 388 389 390 391 392 393 394 395 396 397 398 399 400 401 402 403 404 405 406 407 408 409 410 411 412 413 414 415 416 417 418 419 420 421 422 423 424 425 426 427 428 429 430 431 432 433 434 435 436 437 438 439 440 441 442 443 444 445 446 447 448 449 450 451 452 453 454 455 456 457 458 459 460 461 462 463 464 465 466 467 468 469 470 471 472 473 474 475 476 477 478 479 480 481 482 483 484 485 486 487 488 489 490 491 492 493 494 495 496 497 498 499 500 501 502 503 504 505 506 507 508 509 510 511 512 513 514 515 516 517 518 519 520 521 522 523 524 525 526 527 528 529 530 531 532 533 534 535 536 537 538 539 540 541 542 543 544 545 546 547 548 549 550 551 552 553 554 555 556 557 558 559 560 561 562 563 564 565 566 567 568 569 570 571 572 573 574 575 576 577 578 579 580 581 582 583 584 585 586 587 588 589 590 591 592 593 594 595 596 597 598 599 600 601 602 603 604 605 606 607 608 609 610 611 612 613 614 615 616 617 618 619 620 621 622 623 624 625 626 627 628 629 630 631 632 633 634 635 636 637 638 639 640 641 642 643 644 645 646 647 648 649 650 651 652 653 654 655 656 657 658 659 660 661 662 663 664 665 666 667 668 669 670 671 672 673 674 675 676 677 678 679 680 681 682 683 684 685 686 687 688 689 690 691 692 693 694 695 696 697 698 699 700 701 702 703 704 705 706 707 708 709 710 711 712 713 714 715 716 717 718 719 720 721 722 723 724 725 726 727 728 729 730 731 732 733 734 735 736 737 738 739 740 741 742 743 744 745 746 747 748 749 750 751 752 753 754 755 756 757 758 759 760 761 762 763 764 765 766 767 768 769 770 771 772 773 774 775 776 777 778 779 780 781 782 783 784 785 786 787 788 789 790 791 792 793 794 795 796 797 798 799 800 801 802 803 804 805 806 807 808 809 810 811 812 813 814 815 816 817 818 819 820 821 822 823 824 825 826 827 828 829 830 831 832 833 834 835 836 837 838 839 840 841 842 843 844 845 846 847 848 849 850 851 852 853 854 855 856 857 858 859 860 861 862 863 864 865 866 867 868 869 870 871 872 873 874 875 876 877 878 879 880 881 882 883 884 885 886 887 888 889 890 891 892 893 894 895 896 897 898 899 900 901 902 903 904 905 906 907 908 909 910 911 912 913 914 915 916 917 918 919 920 921 922 923 924 925 926 927 928 929 930 931 932 933 934 935 936 937 938 939 940 941 942 943 944 945 946 947 948 949 950 951 952 953 954 955 956 957 958 959 960 961 962 963 964 965 966 967 968 969 970 971 972 973 974 975 976 977 978 979 980 981 982 983 984 985 986 987 988 989 990 991 992 993 994 995 996 997 998 999 1000

**PLEASE REMOVE ANY COVERSHEET OR FORM NOT
REQUIRED WITH THE CURRENT FILING BEFORE DELIVERY!**

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 32 33 34 35 36 37 38 39 40 41 42 43 44 45 46 47 48 49 50 51 52 53 54 55 56 57 58 59 60 61 62 63 64 65 66 67 68 69 70 71 72 73 74 75 76 77 78 79 80 81 82 83 84 85 86 87 88 89 90 91 92 93 94 95 96 97 98 99 100 101 102 103 104 105 106 107 108 109 110 111 112 113 114 115 116 117 118 119 120 121 122 123 124 125 126 127 128 129 130 131 132 133 134 135 136 137 138 139 140 141 142 143 144 145 146 147 148 149 150 151 152 153 154 155 156 157 158 159 160 161 162 163 164 165 166 167 168 169 170 171 172 173 174 175 176 177 178 179 180 181 182 183 184 185 186 187 188 189 190 191 192 193 194 195 196 197 198 199 200 201 202 203 204 205 206 207 208 209 210 211 212 213 214 215 216 217 218 219 220 221 222 223 224 225 226 227 228 229 230 231 232 233 234 235 236 237 238 239 240 241 242 243 244 245 246 247 248 249 250 251 252 253 254 255 256 257 258 259 260 261 262 263 264 265 266 267 268 269 270 271 272 273 274 275 276 277 278 279 280 281 282 283 284 285 286 287 288 289 290 291 292 293 294 295 296 297 298 299 300 301 302 303 304 305 306 307 308 309 310 311 312 313 314 315 316 317 318 319 320 321 322 323 324 325 326 327 328 329 330 331 332 333 334 335 336 337 338 339 340 341 342 343 344 345 346 347 348 349 350 351 352 353 354 355 356 357 358 359 360 361 362 363 364 365 366 367 368 369 370 371 372 373 374 375 376 377 378 379 380 381 382 383 384 385 386 387 388 389 390 391 392 393 394 395 396 397 398 399 400 401 402 403 404 405 406 407 408 409 410 411 412 413 414 415 416 417 418 419 420 421 422 423 424 425 426 427 428 429 430 431 432 433 434 435 436 437 438 439 440 441 442 443 444 445 446 447 448 449 450 451 452 453 454 455 456 457 458 459 460 461 462 463 464 465 466 467 468 469 470 471 472 473 474 475 476 477 478 479 480 481 482 483 484 485 486 487 488 489 490 491 492 493 494 495 496 497 498 499 500 501 502 503 504 505 506 507 508 509 510 511 512 513 514 515 516 517 518 519 520 521 522 523 524 525 526 527 528 529 530 531 532 533 534 535 536 537 538 539 540 541 542 543 544 545 546 547 548 549 550 551 552 553 554 555 556 557 558 559 560 561 562 563 564 565 566 567 568 569 570 571 572 573 574 575 576 577 578 579 580 581 582 583 584 585 586 587 588 589 590 591 592 593 594 595 596 597 598 599 600 601 602 603 604 605 606 607 608 609 610 611 612 613 614 615 616 617 618 619 620 621 622 623 624 625 626 627 628 629 630 631 632 633 634 635 636 637 638 639 640 641 642 643 644 645 646 647 648 649 650 651 652 653 654 655 656 657 658 659 660 661 662 663 664 665 666 667 668 669 670 671 672 673 674 675 676 677 678 679 680 681 682 683 684 685 686 687 688 689 690 691 692 693 694 695 696 697 698 699 700 701 702 703 704 705 706 707 708 709 710 711 712 713 714 715 716 717 718 719 720 721 722 723 724 725 726 727 728 729 730 731 732 733 734 735 736 737 738 739 740 741 742 743 744 745 746 747 748 749 750 751 752 753 754 755 756 757 758 759 760 761 762 763 764 765 766 767 768 769 770 771 772 773 774 775 776 777 778 779 780 781 782 783 784 785 786 787 788 789 790 791 792 793 794 795 796 797 798 799 800 801 802 803 804 805 806 807 808 809 810 811 812 813 814 815 816 817 818 819 820 821 822 823 824 825 826 827 828 829 830 831 832 833 834 835 836 837 838 839 840 841 842 843 844 845 846 847 848 849 850 851 852 853 854 855 856 857 858 859 860 861 862 863 864 865 866 867 868 869 870 871 872 873 874 875 876 877 878 879 880 881 882 883 884 885 886 887 888 889 890 891 892 893 894 895 896 897 898 899 900 901 902 903 904 905 906 907 908 909 910 911 912 913 914 915 916 917 918 919 920 921 922 923 924 925 926 927 928 929 930 931 932 933 934 935 936 937 938 939 940 941 942 943 944 945 946 947 948 949 950 951 952 953 954 955 956 957 958 959 960 961 962 963 964 965 966 967 968 969 970 971 972 973 974 975 976 977 978 979 980 981 982 983 984 985 986 987 988 989 990 991 992 993 994 995 996 997 998 999 1000

Certification Statement: As the adopting Authority of this rule (see 3 V.S.A. § 801 (b) (11) for a definition), I approve the contents of this filing entitled:

**Rule 3.400 Disconnection of Cable Television Service and
Non-Residential Electric, Gas, and Water Service**

_____, on _____
(signature) (date)

Printed Name and Title:

Edward McNamara, Chair, Vermont Public Utility Commission

RECEIVED BY: _____

- ☐ Coversheet
- ☐ Adopting Page
- ☐ Economic Impact Analysis
- ☐ Environmental Impact Analysis
- ☐ Strategy for Maximizing Public Input
- ☐ Scientific Information Statement (if applicable)
- ☐ Incorporated by Reference Statement (if applicable)
- ☐ Clean text of the rule (Amended text without annotation)
- ☐ Annotated text (Clearly marking changes from previous rule)
- ☐ ICAR Minutes
- ☐ Copy of Comments
- ☐ Responsiveness Summary

1. TITLE OF RULE FILING:

**Rule 3.400 Disconnection of Cable Television Service
and Non-Residential Electric, Gas, and Water Service**

2. PROPOSED NUMBER ASSIGNED BY THE SECRETARY OF STATE

P

3. ADOPTING AGENCY:

Vermont Public Utility Commission

4. PRIMARY CONTACT PERSON:

(A PERSON WHO IS ABLE TO ANSWER QUESTIONS ABOUT THE CONTENT OF THE RULE).

Name: Daniel C. Burke, Esq.

Agency: Vermont Public Utility Commission

Mailing Address: 112 State Street, 4th Floor, Montpelier,
VT 05602

Telephone: 802-828-1173 Fax: 802-828-3352

E-Mail: dan.burke@vermont.gov

Web URL (*WHERE THE RULE WILL BE POSTED*):

<https://epuc.vermont.gov/?q=node/64/127248>

5. SECONDARY CONTACT PERSON:

*(A SPECIFIC PERSON FROM WHOM COPIES OF FILINGS MAY BE REQUESTED OR WHO MAY
ANSWER QUESTIONS ABOUT FORMS SUBMITTED FOR FILING IF DIFFERENT FROM THE
PRIMARY CONTACT PERSON).*

Name: Ann Bishop

Agency: Vermont Public Utility Commission

Mailing Address: 112 State Street, 4th Floor, Montpelier,
VT 05602

Telephone: 802-828-2358 Fax: 802-828-3352

E-Mail: ann.bishop@vermont.gov

6. RECORDS EXEMPTION INCLUDED WITHIN RULE:

*(DOES THE RULE CONTAIN ANY PROVISION DESIGNATING INFORMATION AS CONFIDENTIAL;
LIMITING ITS PUBLIC RELEASE; OR OTHERWISE, EXEMPTING IT FROM INSPECTION AND
COPYING?)* No

IF YES, CITE THE STATUTORY AUTHORITY FOR THE EXEMPTION:

PLEASE SUMMARIZE THE REASON FOR THE EXEMPTION:

7. LEGAL AUTHORITY / ENABLING LEGISLATION:

(THE SPECIFIC STATUTORY OR LEGAL CITATION FROM SESSION LAW INDICATING WHO THE ADOPTING ENTITY IS AND THUS WHO THE SIGNATORY SHOULD BE. THIS SHOULD BE A SPECIFIC CITATION NOT A CHAPTER CITATION).

Public Act No. 47, § 25a (2023 Vt., Bien. Sess.).

EXPLANATION OF HOW THE RULE IS WITHIN THE AUTHORITY OF THE AGENCY:

Act 47, Section 25a requires that the Public Utility Commission "revise its rules concerning utility service disconnection to: (1) require that a utility provide notice to the property owner of residential or nonresidential rental property if utility service to the property has been disconnected, even if the tenant is the ratepayer; and (2) allow a utility to disconnect utility service remotely." The proposed rule amends the Public Utility's Commission existing rule on utility disconnections to incorporate these requirements.

8. Title 30, Section 209 of the Vermont Statutes Annotated tasks the Commission with adopting rules that "regulate or prescribe the grounds upon which the [utility] companies may disconnect or refuse to reconnect service to customers" and "regulate and prescribe reasonable procedures used by [utility] companies in disconnecting or reconnecting services and billing customers in regard thereto." The proposed amendments govern the procedural requirements for utility disconnections.
9. THE FILING HAS CHANGED SINCE THE FILING OF THE PROPOSED RULE.
10. THE AGENCY HAS INCLUDED WITH THIS FILING A LETTER EXPLAINING IN DETAIL WHAT CHANGES WERE MADE, CITING CHAPTER AND SECTION WHERE APPLICABLE.
11. SUBSTANTIAL ARGUMENTS AND CONSIDERATIONS WERE NOT RAISED FOR OR AGAINST THE ORIGINAL PROPOSAL.
12. THE AGENCY HAS NOT INCLUDED COPIES OF ALL WRITTEN SUBMISSIONS AND SYNOPSES OF ORAL COMMENTS RECEIVED.
13. THE AGENCY HAS NOT INCLUDED A LETTER EXPLAINING IN DETAIL THE REASONS FOR THE AGENCY'S DECISION TO REJECT OR ADOPT THEM.
14. **CONCISE SUMMARY (150 WORDS OR LESS):**

The proposed amendments bring the Public Utility Commission's disconnection rules into alignment with

Act 47 to allow for remote disconnections and require utilities to contact owners of rental properties when conducting a disconnection. The rule amendments also modernize the disconnection notification process by allowing utilities to contact affected customers with SMS text messages and emails instead of only telephone calls.

15. EXPLANATION OF WHY THE RULE IS NECESSARY:

The rule complies with a legislative mandate and is designed to reduce the cost of utility disconnections, promote the safety of utility employees that conduct disconnections, and protect property.

16. EXPLANATION OF HOW THE RULE IS NOT ARBITRARY:

The proposed rule amendments are intended to implement Act 47's legislative mandate. The proposed amendments were developed after soliciting feedback and conducting a public workshop with interested parties, including the Vermont Department of Public Service and affected utilities.

17. LIST OF PEOPLE, ENTERPRISES AND GOVERNMENT ENTITIES AFFECTED BY THIS RULE:

Gas, electric, water, and basic telephone utility companies; Vermont customers of those utilities; the Vermont Department of Public Service; the Vermont Housing Authority; Vermont low-income aid organizations such as Vermont Legal Aid and Vermont Community Action Agencies.

18. BRIEF SUMMARY OF ECONOMIC IMPACT (150 WORDS OR LESS):

The proposed rule will have minimal economic impact, but it is expected to produce cost savings for affected utilities by eliminating the need for utility employees to physically travel to service locations to complete utility disconnections for delinquent payment. It will also reduce costs for utility customers by prohibiting utilities from charging fees for remote disconnections.

19. A HEARING WAS NOT HELD.

20. HEARING INFORMATION

(THE FIRST HEARING SHALL BE NO SOONER THAN 30 DAYS FOLLOWING THE POSTING OF NOTICES ONLINE).

IF THIS FORM IS INSUFFICIENT TO LIST THE INFORMATION FOR EACH HEARING, PLEASE ATTACH A SEPARATE SHEET TO COMPLETE THE HEARING INFORMATION.

Date:

Time: AM

Street Address:

Zip Code:

URL for Virtual:

Date:

Time: AM

Street Address:

Zip Code:

URL for Virtual:

Date:

Time: AM

Street Address:

Zip Code:

URL for Virtual:

Date:

Time: AM

Street Address:

Zip Code:

URL for Virtual:

21. DEADLINE FOR COMMENT (NO EARLIER THAN 7 DAYS FOLLOWING LAST HEARING):

KEYWORDS (PLEASE PROVIDE AT LEAST 3 KEYWORDS OR PHRASES TO AID IN THE SEARCHABILITY OF THE RULE NOTICE ONLINE).

Public Utility Commission

Rules

Disconnection

Consumer Protection

Arrearage

Landlord notification of utility disconnection

Adopted Filing – Coversheet

Instructions:

In accordance with Title 3 Chapter 25 of the Vermont Statutes Annotated and the “Rule on Rulemaking” adopted by the Office of the Secretary of State, this filing will be considered complete upon filing and acceptance of these forms with the Office of the Secretary of State, and the Legislative Committee on Administrative Rules.

All forms shall be submitted at the Office of the Secretary of State, no later than 3:30 pm on the last scheduled day of the work week.

The data provided in text areas of these forms will be used to generate a notice of rulemaking in the portal of “Proposed Rule Postings” online, and the newspapers of record if the rule is marked for publication. Publication of notices will be charged back to the promulgating agency.

**PLEASE REMOVE ANY COVERSHEET OR FORM NOT
REQUIRED WITH THE CURRENT FILING BEFORE DELIVERY!**

Certification Statement: As the adopting Authority of this rule (see 3 V.S.A. § 801 (b) (11) for a definition), I approve the contents of this filing entitled:
**Rule 3.400 Disconnection of Cable Television Service and
Non-Residential Electric, Gas, and Water Service**

_____, on _____
(signature) (date)

Printed Name and Title:

Edward McNamara, Chair, Vermont Public Utility Commission

RECEIVED BY: _____

- ☐ Coversheet
- ☐ Adopting Page
- ☐ Clean text of the rule (Amended text without annotation)
- ☐ Letter regarding changes to the final proposed

1. TITLE OF RULE FILING:

**Rule 3.400 Disconnection of Cable Television Service
and Non-Residential Electric, Gas, and Water Service**

2. PROPOSED NUMBER ASSIGNED BY THE SECRETARY OF STATE

P

3. ADOPTING AGENCY:

Vermont Public Utility Commission

4. RECORDS EXEMPTION INCLUDED WITHIN RULE:

*(DOES THE RULE CONTAIN ANY PROVISION DESIGNATING INFORMATION AS CONFIDENTIAL;
LIMITING ITS PUBLIC RELEASE; OR OTHERWISE, EXEMPTING IT FROM INSPECTION AND
COPYING?)* No

IF YES, CITE THE STATUTORY AUTHORITY FOR THE EXEMPTION:

PLEASE SUMMARIZE THE REASON FOR THE EXEMPTION:

5. LEGAL AUTHORITY / ENABLING LEGISLATION:

*(THE SPECIFIC STATUTORY OR LEGAL CITATION FROM SESSION LAW INDICATING WHO THE
ADOPTING ENTITY IS AND THUS WHO THE SIGNATORY SHOULD BE. THIS SHOULD BE A
SPECIFIC CITATION NOT A CHAPTER CITATION).*

Public Act No. 47, § 25a (2023 Vt., Bien. Sess.).

6. THE FILING HAS NOT CHANGED SINCE THE FILING OF THE FINAL
PROPOSED RULE.

7. THE AGENCY HAS NOT INCLUDED WITH THIS FILING A LETTER
EXPLAINING IN DETAIL WHAT CHANGES WERE MADE, CITING CHAPTER
AND SECTION WHERE APPLICABLE, INCLUDING CHANGES IN ECONOMIC
IMPACT.

8. THE LEGISLATIVE COMMITTEE ON ADMINISTRATIVE RULES
DID NOT OBJECT TO THE FINAL PROPOSAL.

9. PROCEDURAL HISTORY OF ADOPTION:

ICAR Filing:

Proposal Filed with Office of the Secretary of State:

Notices Posted Online:

Notices Published in the Newspapers of Record:

A Hearing WAS Held.

Hearings Held (*PLEASE USE ADDITIONAL SHEETS TO PROVIDE THE DATE, TIME, AND LOCATION OF ALL HEARINGS, IF THIS FORM IS INSUFFICIENT TO LIST ALL HEARINGS HELD*):

Date:

Time: AM

Street Address:

Zip Code:

URL for Virtual:

Date:

Time: AM

Street Address:

Zip Code:

URL for Virtual:

Date:

Time: AM

Street Address:

Zip Code:

URL for Virtual:

Date:

Time: AM

Street Address:

Zip Code:

URL for Virtual:

Deadline for Public Comment:

Final Proposal —

Filed with Secretary of State:

Filed with LCAR:

Dates of LCAR Review: , , , ,

Adopted Rule —

Filed with Secretary of State:

Filed with LCAR:

10. EFFECTIVE DATE:

(A RULE MAY TAKE EFFECT 15 DAYS AFTER ADOPTION IS COMPLETE OR AT A LATER TIME PROVIDED IN THE TEXT OF THE RULE SEE 3 V.S.A. §845(d) FOR DETAILS).

Adopting Page

Instructions:

This form must accompany each filing made during the rulemaking process:

Note: To satisfy the requirement for an annotated text, an agency must submit the entire rule in annotated form with proposed and final proposed filings. Filing an annotated paragraph or page of a larger rule is not sufficient. Annotation must clearly show the changes to the rule.

When possible, the agency shall file the annotated text, using the appropriate page or pages from the Code of Vermont Rules as a basis for the annotated version. New rules need not be accompanied by an annotated text.

1. TITLE OF RULE FILING:

**Rule 3.400 Disconnection of Cable Television Service
and Non-Residential Electric, Gas, and Water Service**

2. ADOPTING AGENCY:

Vermont Public Utility Commission

3. TYPE OF FILING (*PLEASE CHOOSE THE TYPE OF FILING FROM THE DROPDOWN MENU
BASED ON THE DEFINITIONS PROVIDED BELOW*):

- **AMENDMENT** - Any change to an already existing rule, even if it is a complete rewrite of the rule, it is considered an amendment if the rule is replaced with other text.
- **NEW RULE** - A rule that did not previously exist even under a different name.
- **REPEAL** - The removal of a rule in its entirety, without replacing it with other text.

This filing is **AN AMENDMENT OF AN EXISTING RULE** .

4. LAST ADOPTED (*PLEASE PROVIDE THE SOS LOG#, TITLE AND EFFECTIVE DATE OF
THE LAST ADOPTION FOR THE EXISTING RULE*):

30-000-005. Disconnection of Cable Television Service and Non-Residential Electric, Gas, and Water Service, July 21, 2006. The Commission is unable to locate the SOS Log# for the 2006 amendment in its records.

Economic Impact Analysis

Instructions:

In completing the economic impact analysis, an agency analyzes and evaluates the anticipated costs and benefits to be expected from adoption of the rule; estimates the costs and benefits for each category of people enterprises and government entities affected by the rule; compares alternatives to adopting the rule; and explains their analysis concluding that rulemaking is the most appropriate method of achieving the regulatory purpose. If no impacts are anticipated, please specify “No impact anticipated” in the field.

Rules affecting or regulating schools or school districts must include cost implications to local school districts and taxpayers in the impact statement, a clear statement of associated costs, and consideration of alternatives to the rule to reduce or ameliorate costs to local school districts while still achieving the objectives of the rule (see 3 V.S.A. § 832b for details).

Rules affecting small businesses (excluding impacts incidental to the purchase and payment of goods and services by the State or an agency thereof), must include ways that a business can reduce the cost or burden of compliance or an explanation of why the agency determines that such evaluation isn’t appropriate, and an evaluation of creative, innovative or flexible methods of compliance that would not significantly impair the effectiveness of the rule or increase the risk to the health, safety, or welfare of the public or those affected by the rule.

1. TITLE OF RULE FILING:

**Rule 3.400 Disconnection of Cable Television Service
and Non-Residential Electric, Gas, and Water Service**

2. ADOPTING AGENCY:

Vermont Public Utility Commission

3. CATEGORY OF AFFECTED PARTIES:

LIST CATEGORIES OF PEOPLE, ENTERPRISES, AND GOVERNMENTAL ENTITIES POTENTIALLY AFFECTED BY THE ADOPTION OF THIS RULE AND THE ESTIMATED COSTS AND BENEFITS ANTICIPATED:

(1) Cable television, natural gas, electric, and water utilities subject to Public Utility Commission jurisdiction. The authorization to conduct remote disconnections will reduce utilities' costs by eliminating the need to send an employee to customers' premises to complete disconnections for delinquent

payments. The requirement to provide notice to property owners and landlords of a disconnection will cause new administrative costs for the utilities, but the rule allows utilities to adopt fee schedules to offset those costs.

(2) Utility customers. The proposed rule will benefit customers affected by disconnections because it prohibits utilities from collecting fees for remote disconnections.

(3) Property Owners and Landlords. The proposed rule will help to protect against damage to rental properties that might be caused by utility disconnections. By requiring utilities to implement systems to provide notice to rental property owners in the event of a disconnection, the property owners can take action to prevent catastrophic property damage that could result from utility disconnections, such as frozen pipes.

4. IMPACT ON SCHOOLS:

INDICATE ANY IMPACT THAT THE RULE WILL HAVE ON PUBLIC EDUCATION, PUBLIC SCHOOLS, LOCAL SCHOOL DISTRICTS AND/OR TAXPAYERS CLEARLY STATING ANY ASSOCIATED COSTS:

This amended rule does not affect schools or taxpayers in any particular way except to the extent that they are a customer of a utility who may be facing disconnection due to nonpayment of a utility bill. This amended rule does not create any additional costs for schools or taxpayers. If anything, the amended rule would help alleviate or mitigate potential costs by allowing for remote disconnection at no cost to the customer being disconnected.

5. ALTERNATIVES: *CONSIDERATION OF ALTERNATIVES TO THE RULE TO REDUCE OR AMELIORATE COSTS TO LOCAL SCHOOL DISTRICTS WHILE STILL ACHIEVING THE OBJECTIVE OF THE RULE.*

No alternatives are currently being considered because this rule does not create any additional costs for local school districts.

6. IMPACT ON SMALL BUSINESSES:

INDICATE ANY IMPACT THAT THE RULE WILL HAVE ON SMALL BUSINESSES (EXCLUDING IMPACTS INCIDENTAL TO THE PURCHASE AND PAYMENT OF GOODS AND SERVICES BY THE STATE OR AN AGENCY THEREOF):

Otherwise, this amended rule does not affect small businesses in any particular way except to the extent that they are a customer of a utility who may be facing disconnection due to nonpayment of a utility bill. This amended rule does not create any additional costs for small businesses. If anything, the amended rule would help alleviate or mitigate potential costs by allowing for remote disconnection at no cost to the customer being disconnected.

7. SMALL BUSINESS COMPLIANCE: *EXPLAIN WAYS A BUSINESS CAN REDUCE THE COST/BURDEN OF COMPLIANCE OR AN EXPLANATION OF WHY THE AGENCY DETERMINES THAT SUCH EVALUATION ISN'T APPROPRIATE.*

The rule amendments require property owners to provide up-to-date contact information to regulated utilities in order to receive notices of utility disconnections at their rental properties. The burden associated with this requirement is expected to be de minimis.

8. COMPARISON:

COMPARE THE IMPACT OF THE RULE WITH THE ECONOMIC IMPACT OF OTHER ALTERNATIVES TO THE RULE, INCLUDING NO RULE ON THE SUBJECT OR A RULE HAVING SEPARATE REQUIREMENTS FOR SMALL BUSINESS:

As explained above, the amended rule would help alleviate or mitigate potential costs. The burden of compliance with or effect of these procedural changes is equivalent to, or less than, the burden imposed by the disconnection procedure that is being amended.

9. SUFFICIENCY: *DESCRIBE HOW THE ANALYSIS WAS CONDUCTED, IDENTIFYING RELEVANT INTERNAL AND/OR EXTERNAL SOURCES OF INFORMATION USED.*

The Commission relied on its experience in regulating utilities and overseeing the disconnection requirements embedded in the existing disconnection rules. It also solicited feedback from the Vermont Department of Public Service and affected utilities, reviewed multiple rounds of written comments, and conducted a public workshop with affected parties.

Environmental Impact Analysis

Instructions:

In completing the environmental impact analysis, an agency analyzes and evaluates the anticipated environmental impacts (positive or negative) to be expected from adoption of the rule; compares alternatives to adopting the rule; explains the sufficiency of the environmental impact analysis. If no impacts are anticipated, please specify “No impact anticipated” in the field.

Examples of Environmental Impacts include but are not limited to:

- Impacts on the emission of greenhouse gases
- Impacts on the discharge of pollutants to water
- Impacts on the arability of land
- Impacts on the climate
- Impacts on the flow of water
- Impacts on recreation
- Or other environmental impacts

1. TITLE OF RULE FILING:

**Rule 3.400 Disconnection of Cable Television Service
and Non-Residential Electric, Gas, and Water Service**

2. ADOPTING AGENCY:

Vermont Public Utility Commission

3. GREENHOUSE GAS: *EXPLAIN HOW THE RULE IMPACTS THE EMISSION OF GREENHOUSE GASES (E.G. TRANSPORTATION OF PEOPLE OR GOODS; BUILDING INFRASTRUCTURE; LAND USE AND DEVELOPMENT, WASTE GENERATION, ETC.):*

Allowing utilities to conduct remote disconnections is expected to result in minor reductions to greenhouse gas impacts. Using remote disconnections will reduce the number of vehicle trips and truck rolls that are necessary for on-premises disconnections.

4. WATER: *EXPLAIN HOW THE RULE IMPACTS WATER (E.G. DISCHARGE / ELIMINATION OF POLLUTION INTO VERMONT WATERS, THE FLOW OF WATER IN THE STATE, WATER QUALITY ETC.):*

No impact anticipated.

5. **LAND:** *EXPLAIN HOW THE RULE IMPACTS LAND (E.G. IMPACTS ON FORESTRY, AGRICULTURE ETC.):*
No impact anticipated.
6. **RECREATION:** *EXPLAIN HOW THE RULE IMPACTS RECREATION IN THE STATE:*
No impact anticipated.
7. **CLIMATE:** *EXPLAIN HOW THE RULE IMPACTS THE CLIMATE IN THE STATE:*
The rule amendments will have a minor impact on reducing greenhouse gases and emissions associated with vehicle trips that will not be necessary for remote disconnections.
8. **OTHER:** *EXPLAIN HOW THE RULE IMPACT OTHER ASPECTS OF VERMONT'S ENVIRONMENT:*
No impact anticipated.
9. **SUFFICIENCY:** *DESCRIBE HOW THE ANALYSIS WAS CONDUCTED, IDENTIFYING RELEVANT INTERNAL AND/OR EXTERNAL SOURCES OF INFORMATION USED.*
The Commission relied on its regulatory expertise and information provided by the Vermont Department of Public Service and affected utilities through their written comments and participation in the workshop process in formulating the proposed rule amendments.

Public Input Maximization Plan

Instructions:

Agencies are encouraged to hold hearings as part of their strategy to maximize the involvement of the public in the development of rules. Please complete the form below by describing the agency's strategy for maximizing public input (what it did do, or will do to maximize the involvement of the public).

This form must accompany each filing made during the rulemaking process:

1. TITLE OF RULE FILING:

**Rule 3.400 Disconnection of Cable Television Service
and Non-Residential Electric, Gas, and Water Service**

2. ADOPTING AGENCY:

Vermont Public Utility Commission

3. PLEASE DESCRIBE THE AGENCY'S STRATEGY TO MAXIMIZE PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT IN THE DEVELOPMENT OF THE PROPOSED RULE, LISTING THE STEPS THAT HAVE BEEN OR WILL BE TAKEN TO COMPLY WITH THAT STRATEGY:

The Commission has maximized and will continue to maximize public input on the proposed rule amendments by contacting and engaging as many potentially interested persons, entities, and organizations as possible, both in a pre-rulemaking format to best inform the proposed amendments, and in a formal rulemaking format, through public hearings and written comments before and after the filing of the proposed rule with the Secretary of State.

To date, the Commission has conducted several rounds of written comments and three different public workshops in considering and developing amendments to its disconnection rules.

Once the proposed rule is filed with the Secretary of State, the Commission intends to circulate the proposed amendments to the persons and entities that have actively participated in the development of the rule amendments so far. The Commission will schedule one or

Public Input

more public hearings as needed and will solicit at least two rounds of comments, one before and one after an initial public hearing.

The Commission will also post notice of the formal rulemaking on its website and will distribute a memorandum from the Clerk of the Commission to the Commission's stakeholder email distribution list. The Commission will also update the open rulemaking case in its electronic filing system (ePUC).

4. BEYOND GENERAL ADVERTISEMENTS, PLEASE LIST THE PEOPLE AND ORGANIZATIONS THAT HAVE BEEN OR WILL BE INVOLVED IN THE DEVELOPMENT OF THE PROPOSED RULE:

To date, the following persons and organizations have participated in workshops or provided comments that assisted in developing the proposed rule amendments: the Vermont Department of Public Service; Green Mountain Power Corporation; Washington Electric Cooperative, Inc.; Vermont Electric Cooperative, Inc.; Vermont Gas Systems, Inc.; Vermont Legal Aid; Vermont Public Power Supply Authority; City of Burlington Electric Department; Village of Hyde Park Electric Department; Swanton Village, Inc. Electric Department; Village of Morrisville Water and Light Department; Town of Stowe Electric Department; Village of Enosburg Falls, Inc. Electric Light Department; Barton Village, Inc. Electric Department; and Comcast of Connecticut/Georgia/Massachusetts/New Hampshire/New York/North Carolina/Virginia/Vermont, LLC.

The Commission expects these persons and entities to continue to participate during the formal rulemaking process and welcomes participation by any additional interested persons and entities.

3.400 DISCONNECTION OF CABLE TELEVISION SERVICE AND NON-RESIDENTIAL ELECTRIC, GAS, AND WATER SERVICE**3.401 Definitions**

The following definitions apply to Rule 3.400:

- (A) Aggregate Data: customer account information from which all identifying information has been removed such that the data or information cannot be associated with a given customer without extraordinary effort.
- (B) Business Days: Monday through Thursday, excluding Vermont legal holidays and any other time, or the day before such time, when a company's business offices are not open to the public.
- (C) Delinquency: failure of the customer to tender payment for a valid bill or charge (1) for bills sent by mail, by a "due date" at least 30 days after mailing, which "due date" must be printed on the bill, or (2) for bills sent electronically, within 30 days after electronic transmittal of the bill, the date of which and the "due date" must be included in the electronic transmission.
- (D) Disconnection: the serving utility's intentional termination of a customer's utility service by any methods such as remotely via advanced metering infrastructure or physically on premises or at the pole. Disconnection includes interruption or limitation of service but does not include cessation of service made at the request of or with the permission of the customer or interruptions of service that are necessary for maintenance or repairs conducted by the utility.
- (E) Notice: written notice of disconnection that is provided to the customer on a form approved by the Commission, except where otherwise provided, or by electronic notice, mailed or electronically transmitted within 40 days after delinquency but not more than 20 days, nor less than 14 days, prior to the first date on which disconnection of service, whether remote or on premises, may occur. If payment has been made by a check or other instrument that is subsequently dishonored, then the number of days between delivery to the utility of the dishonored instrument and receipt by the utility of the notice of dishonor may be deducted from the minimum number of days before the disconnection that notice must be sent, but in no event may that minimum number of days be less than four.
- (F) Payment of Bill: receipt at the company's business office or authorized payment agency of cash or of a check or other instrument that is subsequently honored.
- (G) Transmit: an act of the utility to convey any document, bill, or notice to a customer. Transmittal may be accomplished through verifiable means such as postal mail, in-person visits, or electronic transfer. Electronic transfer may include email, text message, app click-through, and other routine electronic message platforms.

3.402 General Rule

Except at the request of the customer or upon order of the Commission, no utility may disconnect cable television service or non-residential gas, electric, or water service unless payment of a valid bill or charge is delinquent as defined herein and notice of disconnection has been provided previously to the customer.

- (A) This rule does not apply to any disconnection or interruption of services made necessary for reasons of health or of safety of the customer or the general public.
- (B) Disconnection is not permitted if the delinquency is due solely to a disputed portion of a charge that has been referred to the Commission by the customer or the utility, and the Commission has advised the utility not to disconnect service.
- (C) Any utility may elect, at its option, to offer an extended repayment plan for delinquent bills and/or a budget plan for future bills to customers covered by this rule.
- (D) A utility must provide notice to the property owner of a rental property if utility service to the property has been disconnected, even if the tenant is the customer, for the purpose of promoting safety, protection of property, and aid to tenants.
 - (1) Utilities must retain and manage contact information for property owners of rental locations. Property owners must contact the utility to provide their contact information, and it is the property owner's responsibility to contact the utility to maintain up-to-date contact information. Utilities must retain contact information provided by property owners of rental locations.
 - (2) Property owners may authorize an appropriate third-party representative for notice and provide such contact information as the utility deems necessary. However, utilities may not impose any significant paperwork burden. A utility may reasonably request proof of ownership such as a copy of a deed or tax bill if the property owner is not otherwise known to the utility.
 - (3) A utility must provide notice to a property owner once by phone, text, or email before to 3:00 p.m. on the day of disconnection of gas, electric, or water utility service to any rental property for which the property owner has provided contact information for such purposes.
 - (a) The notice must not include any personally identifiable information about the tenant at the disconnected location, or the tenant's account if the tenant is the customer, except that the utility may disclose information necessary to enable the property owner or other applicable third party to reconnect utility service to the property.
 - (b) A utility may not disclose, sell, or transfer any personally identifying individual or aggregate data to a landlord or third-party property manager without the consent of the customer, unless otherwise provided by law.
 - (c) Customer information that is specifically prohibited from disclosure includes customer names, telephone numbers, personally identifying

electricity or gas account numbers, usage, and personally identifying payment history.

- (4) A follow-up written notice of disconnection of service(s) must be mailed to the property owner of any rental property within two business days of disconnection of gas, electric, or water service if the property owner and/or property manager has provided contact information and has requested written notice. This notice requirement may be satisfied if the utility contacts the property owner by phone or electronically via email or SMS text message if the property owner consents to electronic delivery. The written notice must include:
- (a) The title of a utility representative with whom the property owner may make an inquiry or complaint. The contact information and business hours of the company representative(s) must also be included.
 - (b) The address, telephone numbers (including the toll-free number), website, email address, and business hours for the Department of Public Service, Consumer Affairs and Public Information Division (“CAPI”). A statement must be included which explains that CAPI can help customers negotiate with utilities or assist with filing a dispute with the Public Utility Commission.
 - (c) The itemized fees that may be charged to the property owner for the restoration of service. If a deposit may be required for restoration of service, then the utility must provide an explanation of how the amount will be calculated.
 - (d) The notice provided pursuant to subsection (3) above must inform the property owner of the option to receive a follow-up written notice.

3.403 Disconnection Notice Form

The notice form required under Section 3.402, and defined in Section 3.401, must contain at least the following information:

- (A) a statement that the customer’s account is delinquent, a statement of the amount of the delinquency, and a statement that service will be disconnected unless: (1) the delinquency is paid in full by a certain date; (2) the customer submits any disputed portion of the charge to the Commission and the Commission orders the utility not to disconnect service; or (3) if the utility offers an extended repayment plan for delinquent bills, the customer enters into such a plan;
- (B) the dates and times of day when the utility may disconnect service if the customer does not take any of the actions as described in Section 3.403(A) above;
- (C) the positions, addresses, telephone numbers and business hours of company representatives with whom the customer may discuss the delinquency or to whom the customer may make an inquiry or complaint;
- (D) the address, telephone numbers, including the toll-free number, and business hours

of the Consumer Affairs Division of the Department of Public Service, and a statement that, in addition to providing assistance or advice, the Division can provide information as to how to submit to the Commission a dispute over the existence of a delinquency;

- (E) The itemized fees that may be charged to the customer for the disconnection process, including those for notice, disconnection, collection, and restoration of service. No fees may be charged for remote disconnection of electric, natural gas, or water service. Fees may be charged for notice of disconnection to landlords or appropriate third parties, such as property managers. If a deposit may be required for restoration of service, an explanation of how the amount will be calculated must also be provided; and
- (F) A statement that utility services may be disconnected remotely, or at the pole or premises without a visit to the premises;
- (G) A statement that the address, time, and date of disconnected utility services are reported to property owners, if the customer is not the property owner, when contact information for property owners is on file. Utilities must not use language in notices or messaging that could be construed as coercing payment by threatening to inform the landlord; and
- (H) any other information not inconsistent with the above and which has received prior approval of the Commission.

3.404 Time and Notice of Disconnection

Disconnection of utility service must occur only between the hours of 8:00 a.m. and 2:00 p.m. of the business day when disconnected at a pole at or near the premises of the customer, specified on the notice of disconnection, or within four business days thereafter. However, if a company has available personnel authorized to reconnect service and enter into arrangements on behalf of the utility until 8:00 p.m. of a normal business day, the utility may disconnect service between the hours of 8:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. When service is disconnected remotely, it may only occur between the hours of 9 a.m. and 11 a.m. on a scheduled date of disconnection provided in the written notice as described previously.

When service is disconnected or interrupted at the premises of the customer, which must include disconnection or interruption at a pole at or near the premises of the customer, the individual making the disconnection must immediately inform a responsible adult on the premises that service has been disconnected or interrupted, or if no responsible adult is then present, must leave on the premises in a conspicuous and secure place a notification advising that service has been disconnected or interrupted and what the customer has to do to have service restored.

3.405 Restoration of Service

If service has been disconnected or interrupted, the company must restore service within 24 hours upon the customer's request when the cause for disconnection of service has been removed, when an agreement has been reached between the customer and the company regarding the dispute that led to the disconnection, or when directed to do so by the Commission. Restoration of service, to the extent feasible, must be done so as to avoid charging customers for overtime wages and other unusual expenses.

3.406 Filing Requirements

- (A) Within 30 days after the effective date of this rule, all utilities subject to its provisions must submit to the Commission for its review a copy of its disconnection notice form.
- (B) Within 30 days of the effective date of revisions to this rule, each utility must file tariff amendments to ensure that they are consistent with the provisions of this rule.

3.400 DISCONNECTION OF CABLE TELEVISION SERVICE AND NON-RESIDENTIAL ELECTRIC, GAS, AND WATER SERVICE

3.401 Definitions

The following definitions apply to Rule 3.400:

- (A) ~~Disconnection:~~ deliberate interruption or disconnection of utility service to a ratepayer by the serving utility, not including disconnection at the request of or with the permission of the ratepayer.
- (A) Aggregate Data: customer account information from which all identifying information has been removed such that the data or information cannot be associated with a given customer without extraordinary effort.
- (B) Business Days: Monday through Thursday, excluding Vermont legal holidays and any other time, or the day before such time, when a company's business offices are not open to the public.
- (B)(C) Delinquency: failure of the ~~ratepayer~~customer to tender payment for a valid bill or charge (1) ~~within thirty days of the postmark date of that bill or charge,~~ or (2) ~~for bills sent by mail, by a "due date"~~ at least ~~thirty~~30 days after mailing, which ~~shall~~"due date" must be printed on the bill ~~and which shall control,~~ or (2) for bills sent electronically, within 30 days after electronic transmittal of the bill, the date of which and the "due date" must be included in the ~~absence of a postmark~~electronic transmission.
- (D) ~~Notice:~~ Disconnection: the serving utility's intentional termination of a customer's utility service by any methods such as remotely via advanced metering infrastructure or physically on premises or ~~where the context otherwise requires, notice shall mean at the pole.~~ Disconnection includes interruption or limitation of service but does not include cessation of service made at the request of or with the permission of the customer or interruptions of service that are necessary for maintenance or repairs conducted by the utility.
- (C)(E) Notice: written notice of disconnection that is provided to the customer on a form approved by the Commission, ~~except where otherwise provided, or by electronic notice,~~ mailed or ~~delivered~~electronically transmitted within ~~forty~~40 days after delinquency, but not more than ~~twenty~~20 days, nor less than ~~fourteen~~14 days—~~seven if the ratepayer has failed to abide by the terms of an extended repayment plan—~~, prior to the first date on which disconnection of service. ~~Where, whether remote or on premises, may occur.~~ If payment has been made by a check or other instrument ~~which that~~ is subsequently dishonored, then the number of days between delivery to the utility of the dishonored instrument and receipt by the utility of the notice of dishonor may be deducted from the minimum number of days ~~prior to before the~~ disconnection that notice must be sent, but in no event may that minimum number of days be less than four.
- (D)(F) Payment of Bill: receipt at the ~~company's~~company's business office or authorized payment agency of cash or of a check or other instrument ~~which that~~ is subsequently honored.
- (E) ~~Business Days:~~ Monday through Thursday, excluding Vermont legal holidays and any other time, or the day before such time, when the Company's business offices are not open to the public.

(G) Transmit: an act of the utility to convey any document, bill, or notice to a customer. Transmittal may be accomplished through verifiable means such as postal mail, in-person visits, or electronic transfer. Electronic transfer may include email, text message, app click-through, and other routine electronic message platforms.

3.402 **General Rule**

Except at the request of the ~~ratepayer~~customer or upon order of the Commission, no utility ~~shall~~may disconnect cable television service or non-residential gas, electric, or water service unless payment of a valid bill or charge is delinquent as defined herein, and notice of disconnection has been provided previously to the ~~ratepayer~~customer.

- (A) This rule ~~shall~~does not apply to any disconnection or interruption of services made necessary for reasons of health or of safety of the ~~ratepayer~~customer or the general public.
- (B) Disconnection ~~shall~~is not ~~be~~ permitted if the delinquency is due solely to a disputed portion of a charge ~~which~~that has been referred to the Commission by the ~~ratepayer~~customer or the utility, and the Commission has advised the utility not to disconnect service.
- (C) Any utility may elect, at its option, to offer an extended repayment plan for delinquent bills and/or a budget plan for future bills to ~~ratepayers~~customers covered by this rule.

- (D) A utility must provide notice to the property owner of a rental property if utility service to the property has been disconnected, even if the tenant is the customer, for the purpose of promoting safety, protection of property, and aid to tenants.
- (1) Utilities must retain and manage contact information for property owners of rental locations. Property owners must contact the utility to provide their contact information, and it is the property owner's responsibility to contact the utility to maintain up-to-date contact information. Utilities must retain contact information provided by property owners of rental locations.
- (2) Property owners may authorize an appropriate third-party representative for notice and provide such contact information as the utility deems necessary. However, utilities may not impose any significant paperwork burden. A utility may reasonably request proof of ownership such as a copy of a deed or tax bill if the property owner is not otherwise known to the utility.
- (3) A utility must provide notice to a property owner once by phone, text, or email before to 3:00 p.m. on the day of disconnection of gas, electric, or water utility service to any rental property for which the property owner has provided contact information for such purposes.
- (a) The notice must not include any personally identifiable information about the tenant at the disconnected location, or the tenant's account if the tenant is the customer, except that the utility may disclose information necessary to enable the property owner or other applicable third party to reconnect utility service to the property.
- (b) A utility may not disclose, sell, or transfer any personally identifying individual or aggregate data to a landlord or third-party property manager without the consent of the customer, unless otherwise provided by law.
- (c) Customer information that is specifically prohibited from disclosure includes customer names, telephone numbers, personally identifying electricity or gas account numbers, usage, and personally identifying payment history.
- (4) A follow-up written notice of disconnection of service(s) must be mailed to the property owner of any rental property within two business days of disconnection of gas, electric, or water service if the property owner and/or property manager has provided contact information and has requested written notice. This notice requirement may be satisfied if the utility contacts the property owner by phone or electronically via email or SMS text message if the property owner consents to electronic delivery. The written notice must include:
- (a) The title of a utility representative with whom the property owner may make an inquiry or complaint. The contact information and business hours of the company representative(s) must also be included.
- (b) The address, telephone numbers (including the toll-free number), website, email address, and business hours for the Department of Public Service, Consumer Affairs and Public Information Division ("CAPI"). A statement must be included which explains that CAPI can help customers negotiate with utilities or assist with filing a dispute with the Public Utility Commission.

(c) The itemized fees that may be charged to the property owner for the restoration of service. If a deposit may be required for restoration of service, then the utility must provide an explanation of how the amount will be calculated.

(d) The notice provided pursuant to subsection (3) above must inform the property owner of the option to receive a follow-up written notice.

3.403 Disconnection Notice Form

The notice form required under Section 3.402, and defined in Section 3.401, ~~shall~~must contain at least the following information:

(A) a statement that the ~~ratepayer's~~customer's account is delinquent, a statement of the amount of the delinquency, and a statement that service will be disconnected unless: (1) the delinquency is paid in full by a certain date; (2) the ~~ratepayer~~customer submits any disputed portion of the charge to the Commission and the Commission orders the utility not to disconnect service; or (3) if the utility offers an extended repayment plan for delinquent bills, the ~~ratepayer~~customer enters into such a plan;

(B) the dates and times of day when the utility may disconnect service if the ~~ratepayer~~customer does not take any of the actions as described in Section 3.403(A) above;

(C) the ~~names or~~ positions, addresses, telephone numbers and business hours of company representatives with whom the ~~ratepayer~~customer may discuss the delinquency or to whom the ~~ratepayer~~customer may make an inquiry or complaint;

(D) the address, telephone numbers, including the toll-free number, and business hours of the Consumer Affairs Division of the Department of Public Service, and a statement that, in addition to providing assistance or advice, the Division can provide information as to how to submit to the Commission a dispute over the existence of a delinquency;

~~(E) The~~(E) The itemized ~~cost~~fees that may be charged to the ~~ratepayer~~customer for the disconnection process, including those for notice, disconnection, collection, and later restoration of service and, if. No fees may be charged for remote disconnection of electric, natural gas, or water service. Fees may be charged for notice of disconnection to landlords or appropriate third parties, such as property managers. If a deposit may be required for restoration of service, an explanation of how the amount will be calculated must also be provided; and

~~(F)~~ A statement that utility services may be disconnected remotely, or at the pole or premises without a visit to the premises;

~~(E)~~(G) A statement that the address, time, and, date of disconnected utility services are reported to property owners, if the customer is not the property owner, when contact information for property owners is on file. Utilities must not use language in notices or messaging that could be construed as coercing payment by threatening to inform the landlord; and

~~(F)~~(H) any other information not inconsistent with the above and which has received prior approval of the Commission.

3.404 Time and Notice of Disconnection

Disconnection of utility service ~~shall~~must occur only between the hours of 8:00 ~~A.M.~~a.m. and 2:00

~~P.M.~~ p.m. of the business day when disconnected at a pole at or near the premises of the customer, specified on the notice of disconnection, or within four business days thereafter; ~~provided, however.~~ However, if a company has available personnel authorized to reconnect service and enter into arrangements on behalf of the utility until 8:00 ~~P.M.~~p.m. of a normal business day, the utility may disconnect service between the hours of 8:00 ~~A.M.~~a.m. and 5:00 ~~P.M.~~p.m. When service is disconnected remotely, it may only occur between the hours of 9 a.m. and 11 a.m. on a scheduled date of disconnection provided in the written notice as described previously.

When service is disconnected or interrupted at the premises of the ~~ratepayer~~customer, which ~~shall~~must include disconnection or interruption at a pole at or near the premises of the ~~ratepayer~~customer, the individual making the disconnection ~~shall~~must immediately inform a responsible adult on the premises that service has been disconnected or interrupted, or if no responsible adult is then present, ~~shall~~must leave on the premises in a conspicuous and secure place a notification advising that service has been disconnected or interrupted and what the ~~ratepayer~~customer has to do to have service restored.

3.405 **Restoration of Service**

If service has been disconnected or interrupted, the company ~~shall within twenty-four hours must~~ restore service within 24 hours upon the ~~ratepayer's~~customer's request when the cause for disconnection of service has been removed, when an agreement has been reached between the ~~ratepayer~~customer and the company regarding the dispute ~~which that~~ led to the disconnection, or when directed to do so by the Commission. Restoration of service, to the extent feasible, must be done so as to avoid charging customers for overtime wages and other unusual expenses.

~~Commission. Restoration of service, to the extent feasible, shall be done so as to avoid charging ratepayers for overtime wages and other abnormal expenses.~~

3.406 Filing Requirements

- (A) Within ~~thirty~~30 days after the effective date of this rule, all utilities subject to its provisions ~~shall~~must submit to the Commission for its review a copy of its disconnection notice form.

- (B) Within 30 days of the effective date of revisions to this rule, each utility must file tariff amendments to ensure that they are consistent with the provisions of this rule.